# FILED Court of Appeals Division III State of Washington 6/2/2022 3:58 PM

FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 6/3/2022 BY ERIN L. LENNON CLERK

NO. 38068-8-III

100986-1

### COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION III OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

DARRELL R. AXON and TERESA E. MAHONEY-AXON, husband and wife and the marital community composed thereof,

Petitioners,

VS.

KEYSTONE RV COMPANY, a foreign corporation,

Respondent.

### PETITION FOR REVIEW

LAW OFFICES OF
EUGENE N. BOLIN, JR., P.S.
Eugene N. Bolin, Jr.
WSBA #11450
114 Railroad Avenue, Suite 308
Edmonds, WA 98020
425-582-8165
eugenebolin@gmail.com
Attorney for Petitioners

###

#### A. Introduction

This case arises from the sale of a Keystone recreational vehicle ("RV") to the Petitioners, Daryl Axon and Theresa Mahoney-Axon ("Axons"), who purchased it to live in and travel. The Respondent is Keystone RV Company ("Keystone"), one of the largest RV manufacturers in the United States. The virtually-new RV was sold to the Axons by a Keystone authorized dealer, who told them that the RV was still covered by Keystone's manufacturer's warranty. Neither Keystone nor its dealer disclosed to the Axons several substantial health hazards and limitations in the ordinary use of the RV. Those undisclosed hazards included the likely development of mold and mildew in the RV; that it was constructed of materials containing formaldehyde; and that "prolonged occupancy" in the RV resulted in "prolonged exposure" to

these hazardous substances. Similarly, no one told the Axons that Keystone would terminate its warranty if the Axons were discovered to be using their RV for "residential" purposes.

All of these facts substantially affected the safety, utility, and value of the RV. The Axons would not have purchased the RV if they had known of the manufacturing defects in the RV and warranty limitations. All of these undisclosed defects were material to the Petitioners' decision to purchase the RV.

Keystone seeks to disclaim all liability to consumers relating to the manufacturing defects by merely *referencing* disclaimers in its Owner's Manual with vague and ambiguous language that literally defies comprehension by ordinary consumers. The Manual refers to "health hazards" but does not disclose what they are. The Manual also prohibits "prolonged occupancy" of its RVs, but does not define the term. The provision which terminates warranty

coverage if an owner is found to be using their RV for "residential" purposes, is found buried in the manual. Even if Keystone's purported disclaimers were intelligible, they are provided to consumers in a way that is calculated to have zero impact on sales. This is because many consumers never read owner's manuals for any product, and much less before buying the product.

This appeal involves an unpublished decision. However, the decision directly conflicts with all three divisions of the Court of Appeals and the Supreme Court, regarding the long-outdated defenses of "buyers beware" and caveat emptor. Further, all of the facts upon which this petition is predicated regarding the discredited defenses of caveat emptor and "buyer beware" are not meaningfully contested by Keystone. The issue is therefore appropriate for review by the Supreme Court.

It is immaterial to the outcome of this petition that the Axons did not submit declarations in opposition to

Keystone's motion for summary judgment. The verified Complaint enabled the Court of Appeals to rule on the merits and the Axons respectfully request that the Supreme Court do the same.

The disclaimers are not warnings against the abuse or neglect of the product, like those typically found in actions. The personal injury and product liability disclaimers in this case concern toxic and mildew carcinogenic substances----mold and formaldehyde---which are harmful to humans. The harm is compounded here because the Axons purchased their RV to live in full-time. That means they were exposed around the clock to such substances, in very close proximity.

This is borne out by Keystone's "caution" to consumers about "prolonged occupancy"----which really translates to "prolonged exposure" to hazardous substances. Still, Keystone does not explicitly warn consumers of the real cause of the risks associated with

"prolonged occupancy." Nor does Keystone share any information with consumers about the nature and extent of the risk----only that a vague risk exists. This is not only unreasonable; it is deceptive and unfair conduct under the Auto Dealers Act, RCW 46.70.180, and the Consumer Protection Act, RCW 19.86., *et seq.* 

Finally, other cases which deal with the adequacy of warnings and disclaimers derive almost entirely from product liability and personal actions. The Axons' claims, on the other hand, are brought under the Auto Dealers Act (RCW 46.70.180) and the Consumer Protection Act (RCW 19.86, *et seq.*). These are remedial statutory schemes which must be liberally construed to achieve their legislative intent.

For all of these reasons, the Axons respectfully request that the Supreme Court accept review.

### B. Identity of the Petitioners

The Petitioners Daryl Axon and Theresa Mahoney-Axon ("Axons") seek review.

### C. The Court of Appeals Decision Warranting Review

Division III filed its opinion on May 3, 2022. See Appendix A-1 to A-20. The trial court's decision is reproduced at A-21 to A-24. The trial court's letter transmitting its decision is reproduced at A-25 to A-27.

#### II. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

The sole issue presented for review in this Petition is:

Did the Court of Appeals err by relying on Keystone's

"buyer beware" defense, discredited by all Washington
courts, thereby resulting in dismissal of the Petitioners'

Complaint by summary judgment?

### III. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

### A. Substantially Uncontroverted Facts Relevant to the Axons' Claims

The Plaintiffs filed a detailed and verified 26-page Complaint on June 7, 2019, from which the following facts are taken. (CP 1 - 26).

In the summer of 2018, the Axons were interested in buying a safe and reliable RV which they could occupy full-time with their school-aged daughter. (CP 6, par. 3.1). They purchased a 2018 Keystone "Fusion" fifth-wheel RV from a Keystone authorized dealer in Spokane in June of that year. (CP 9, par. 3.12). The RV was "virtually brand new" (CP 8, par. 3.8) and the Axons paid a total of \$77,488.62 to buy the RV. The Axons were also told that the RV was still "covered" by Keystone's warranty. (CP 8, par. 3.8).

Unbeknownst to the Axons, the 100-page Owner's Manual for the RV contained a "caution" to consumers regarding "prolonged occupancy" in the RV, but did not describe or define that term. (CP 8, par. 3.9 - 3.20). The Manual also refers to "health hazards" resulting from the

occupancy of Keystone RVs, but does not identify them. (CP 8-9, pars. 3.10 and 3.11). The Owner's Manual also includes a provision informing consumers that the Company will terminate its warranty for the RV if it learns that a customer is using their RV for "residential" purposes. (CP 100). Keystone's failure to disclose facts material to the purchase of the Keystone RV, caused the Plaintiffs to purchase an RV they did not want. (CP 15, par. 3.35). The Axons wanted an RV they could live in full-time, that was safe. This is not what the Axons got. The Axons therefore filed a Complaint against Keystone and its authorized dealer, seeking damages for loss of use, diminished value, and other economic damages.

Except for boilerplate denials in their Answer (CP 27-40), Keystone did not meaningfully deny any of the Axon's allegations set forth in their Complaint, except one: Keystone denied that the dealer that the Axons named as a defendant, was an authorized dealer of the Keystone

Fuzion RV. (See Keystone's Response Brief at pg. 5). Keystone does not deny that it was an authorized Keystone dealer for all other Keystone RVs—only the Fuzion model.

### B. Expert Testimony Supporting the Axons' Claims

The Plaintiffs provided the trial court with testimony of Joellen Gill, a qualified forensic human factors expert, to testify about the effectiveness, if any, of Keystone's purported disclaimers in its Owner's Manual. She executed a declaration in which she testified about all of the reasons why the disclaimers in Keystone's Owner's Manual were ineffective. (CP 259 - 287), She testified that: "Research has shown that users do not reliably read owner's manuals and/or if they do consult owner's manuals it is for specific information rather than a comprehensive review." In support of this conclusion, she cited Brad Mehlenbacher, Michael S. Wogalter, and Kenneth R. Laughery; *On the Reading of Product Owner's* 

Manuals: Perceptions and Product Complexity,
Proceedings of the Human Factors and Ergonomics
Society 46<sup>th</sup> Annual Meeting, (2002). (CP 273). She also
testified that:

- a. It was, or should have been, foreseeable to Keystone that purchasers of their RVs would "reside" in these RVs for extended periods.
- b. It was, or should have been, foreseeable to Keystone that purchasers of their RVs would not read the Owner's Manual before purchasing a Keystone RV.
- c. It was, or should have been, foreseeable to Keystone that the warnings contained in the Owner's Manual were insufficient and inconsistent with basic principles regarding warning effectiveness.
- d. It was, or should have been, foreseeable to Keystone that purchasers of their RVs may never read the Owner's Manual in its entirety.
- e. Keystone failed to effectively mitigate the hazards of extended occupancy in their RVs.
- f. Every consumer who has purchased a Keystone RV is at risk for avoidable health hazards, because Keystone failed to effectively mitigate those hazards.

(CP 260).

Ms. Gill's testimony can lead a fact-finder to only one conclusion: Keystone knowingly calculated a way to disclaim liability for consumer lawsuits, such as this, without impacting sales at all. In other words, Keystone wants to have its cake and eat it, too. This is not only wrong, but it does not comport with well-settled law regarding consumer protection claims under our CPA.

The Plaintiffs also provided the trial court with the testimony of John Walker, an expert in the appraisal of vehicles including RVs. (CP 295 - 303). Mr. Walker testified that the value of Keystone RVs is less than the purchase price because of their loss of value, or diminished value, once the undisclosed health hazards and limitations on their use become known. (CP297 - 301).

The Plaintiffs also presented the expert testimony of Dr. John Buscher, a physician with substantial experience in occupational medicine. (CP 289 - 293). Dr. Buscher

testified that mold varieties found in Keystone RVs are toxic to humans and can result in illness from which a patient may never recover. (*Id.*) Keystone does not deny that formaldehyde is a human carcinogenic.

### C. Keystone's Purported Disclaimers

Keystone claims that consumers must satisfy ridiculous requirements to overcome disclaimers in its Owner's Manual to survive summary judgment. For example:

Keystone claims that "[h]ad Appellants actually read Keystone's Owner's Manual in 2018 or visited Keystone's website, they would have noticed that Keystone dedicated an entire chapter in its Owner's Manual to prolonged occupancy." (Keystone's Response Brief @ pg. 2).

Even if consumers did read Keystone's Owner's Manual, Keystone has never presented any evidence to support their claim that consumers have a duty to do so, before purchasing a product.

Keystone claims that the disclaimers contained in the Owner's Manual are "readily available" and publicly disseminated and that the Axons "simply chose not to look for it." (Keystone's Response Brief pg. 2).

This is another example of Keystone's "buyer beware" defense strategy. Keystone again has never provided any evidence or authority to show that consumers have a duty to investigate a product before purchasing it, to learn of health hazards and limitations on the use of a product which are known to the manufacturer. Consumers should not have to research websites simply to determine if the product they are purchasing is safe to use, or that it cannot be used as consumers reasonably expect that it could be used, or that the warranty coverage will be terminated when the product is used as intended.

Keystone argues that it "was never in a position to 'provide' Plaintiffs with information about its limited manufacturer's warranty" (CP 56) since "Plaintiffs never contacted Keystone regarding the purchase of the trailer." Id.

Again, Keystone has never presented any evidence or authority to support an argument that a manufacturer can avoid its duty to provide material information to consumers regarding the safety, utility and value of its products, in the course of their ordinary use, by forcing the Plaintiffs to do so, instead.

"Plaintiff's never contacted Keystone regarding the purchase of their trailer." (CP 56).

This argument implies that consumers must contact a manufacturer before the purchase of their RV, to inquire of its safety, utility and value. There is no evidence or authority to support such an argument.

Keystone argues that consumers need to understand "prolonged occupancy" because if they are staying in their RV for a prolonged period it "can lead to premature component failure and create conditions that could lead to poor indoor air quality if not managed properly." (CP 60).

This is a ludicrous argument, given Keystone's deliberate use of ambiguous and confusing language in its Owner's Manual. Keystone deliberately employs the most obscure and ambiguous way to communicate with consumers about the safety, utility or limitations on the use of its RVs.

If a consumer has asthma, allergies, chronic lung disease such as bronchitis and emphysema, pre-existing heart disease, they are children or elderly they are somehow expected by Keystone to know before they purchase an RV that they are most at risk for poor air quality within the RV. (CP 60).

Consumers have a basic right to know about any limitations on the time that they can occupy a Keystone RV. This perhaps one of the most shocking aspects of Keystone's conduct as a major manufacturer—-it does not disclose the "health hazards" of using its products, even to those who are "most at risk," including children.

### IV. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED

A. "Buyer Beware" is Not The Law in Washington: *Young v. Tacoma Motor Sales*, 196 Wn.2d 310, 313 (2020).

The trial court in this case granted summary judgment to Keystone RV *after* the Court of Appeals ruled in *Young* in 2019 (9 Wn.App. 2d 26, 442 P.3rd 5 (2019) but before the Supreme Court issued its ruling in 2020. Still, there is a mountain of authority in Washington case law which has consistently criticized "buyer beware" and "caveat emptor" defenses. In fact, the Axons are unable to find a single published appellate decision which upholds the defense in any consumer transaction. The Axons therefore assert that the trial court should have followed Washington law and denied Keystone's motion for summary judgment on that basis. There are no claims asserted by the Axons against Keystone which should

have been dismissed, if the trial court had followed the holding of *Young* and its predecessor cases.

Young v. Toyota simply affirmed again, a very long line of cases too numerous to cite, which have held that "buyer beware" and "caveat emptor" defenses are dead in Washington. At least 23 Washington cases since 1901, have expressed their disfavor for "buyer beware" and "caveat emptor" defenses. The earliest of those cases is the 1901 Supreme Court case of Gove v. Tacoma, 26 Wash. 474, 67 P. 261, where the Court held:

The rule of caveat emptor urged by respondent can have no application in a case of this kind, for the reason that the purchaser need take no notice of the record to learn whether the certificate is regularly and legally issued, and is therefore of value.

In other words, a buyer has no duty to investigate and learn facts already known to the seller.

Division III of the Court of Appeals is included in the courts which have criticized "buyer beware" and "caveat

emptor." See, Montgomery v. Engelhard, 188 Wn. App. 66, 352 P.3d 218 (Div. III 2013); Allegiance Props., LLC v. Richart, 2020 Wash. App. LEXIS 2850, 2020 WL 6445021.

Complying with the requirements of Young is not a burden for Keystone. All the company must do is place a permanent label on its RVs, conspicuously advising consumers about the dangers of mold, mildew, formaldehyde, "prolonged occupancy" in its RVs, and the instant termination of warranties when Keystone discovers that a consumer is living in their RV. All of its RVs placed with the stream of commerce should have such a label. This would provide Keystone with a cheap and easy affirmative defense to all suits, such as this one. Why doesn't Keystone do this? It is more interested in volume sales than the health and safety of their own consumers.

### B. Both New and Used Products Must be Merchantable.

RCW 62A.2-314 does not distinguish between new and used products for purposes of determining whether a product is "merchantable." This provision of the UCC means that the seller promises that the product will be fit for ordinary purposes, reasonably safe, without major defects, and of the average quality of similar products available for sale in the same price range. Clearly, the Keystone RV that the Axons purchased was not merchantable. Merchantability is a question of fact. *Spirit Aerosystems, Inc. v. SPS Techs., LLC*, 2013 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 168696 (U.S.D.C. Kansas).

### C. Disclaimers Are Disfavored by Washington Courts

"Disclaimers of warranty are disfavored in the law and ineffectual unless explicitly negotiated between the buyer and seller, and set forth with particularity showing the particular qualities and characteristics of fitness which are being disclaimed." *Dobias v. W. Farmers Asso*, 6 Wn. App. 194, 200 (Div. III, 1971). A disclaimer to be effective must be bargained for. RCW 62A.2-316.

In *Berg v. Stromme*, 79 Wn.2d 184, 196, 484 P.2d 380 (1971), the Court held that "[w]aivers of such warranties, being disfavored in law, are ineffectual unless explicitly negotiated between buyer and seller and set forth with particularity showing the particular qualities and characteristics of fitness which are being waived."). *Testo v. Russ Dunmire*, 16 Wn. App. 39, 554 P.2d 349 (1976) held that: "A disclaimer is not effective unless it can be shown that the so-called disclaimer is explicitly negotiated between buyer and seller and set forth with particularity showing the particular qualities and characteristics of fitness which are being waived."

The construction and legal effect of a disclaimer is a question of law. *Swanson v. Liquid Air Corp.*, 118 Wn.2d 512, 543 (1992). *Swanson* involved purported disclaimers

in an employee manual asserted by the employer against its employees. The Supreme Court held that "reasonable notice" must be provided to the employees, and that an employer's inconsistent representations and conduct could negate or override the disclaimer. *Id.* at 519-520.

### V. CONCLUSION

Based on all of the foregoing, the Axons respectfully request that the Court accept review.

I certify that this memorandum contains 3012 words, in compliance with the RAP 18.17.