FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
7/19/2022 2:23 PM
BY ERIN L. LENNON
CLERK

No. 100986-1

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

DARRELL R. AXON and TERESA E. MAHONEY-AXON, husband and wife, and the marital community composed thereof,

Petitioners,

v.

KEYSTONE RV COMPANY, a foreign corporation, Respondent.

RESPONDENT'S ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

Joseph P. Corr, WSBA No. 36584
Gretchen J. Hoog, WSBA No. 43248
CORR|DOWNS PLLC
100 W. Harrison St., Suite N440
Seattle, WA 98119
(206) 962-5040
Attorneys for Respondent Keystone RV Company

IV.	STATEMENT OF THE CASE						
	A.	Appellants' Claim Is for Economic, Not Personal, Injury					
	В.	Keystone Cautioned Consumers About Prolonged Occupancy and Provided Information Regarding Maintaining Good Indoor Air Quality					
	C.	Keystone Informed Consumers About the Use of Formaldehyde In Building Materials					
	D.	Appellants Fail to Present Evidence of Deceptive Conduct and Causation					
	E.	The <i>Axon</i> and <i>Cole</i> Matters Are Dismissed on Summary Judgment					
V.	LEGAL ARGUMENT						
	A.	Summary Judgment Standard 14					
	B.	Summary Judgment Is Proper Because Appellants Cannot Establish the Unfair or Deceptive Act and Causation Elements of Their CPA Claim					
		1. Appellants Fail to Establish That Keystone Engaged in an "Unfair or Deceptive Act." 15					
		 a. Appellants Cannot Establish Keystone Engaged in Overtly Deceptive Conduct. 16 					

			b.	Appellants are Unable to Establish Deception By Omission In Light of Keystone's Extensive Disclosures
				i. Keystone disclosed all material information about the use of formaldehyde in its RVs
		2.	Ap	pellants Fail to Establish Causation 22
			a.	Appellants' Injury Could Not Have Been Caused by Keystone Marketing Materials and Literature They Never Read
			b.	Keystone's Alleged Omissions Could Not Have Caused Appellants' Injury 24
	C.			nts' <i>Per Se</i> CPA Claim Fails for Lack of ee of Deception and Causation
VI.	CO	NCL	USI	ON26

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

Cases

Blake v. Federal Way Cycle Ctr., 40 Wn. App. 302, 309, 698 P.2d 578, review denied, 104 Wn.2d 1005 (1985)15
Bylsma v. Burger King Corp., 176 Wn.2d 555, 293 P.3d 1168 (2013)19
Cole, et al. v. Keystone RV Company, No. C18-5182RBL, 2020 WL 3969993 (W.D. Wash. July 14, 2020) 10, 11, 12, 13, 19, 21
Deegan v. Windermere Real Estate/Center-Isle, Inc., 197 Wn. App. 875, 890, 391 P.3d 582 (2017)15, 24
<i>Griffith v. Centenx Real Estate Corp.</i> , 93 Wn. App. 202, 969 P.2d 486 (1998)18
Hangman Ridge Training Stables, Inc. v. Safeco Title Ins., 105 Wn.2d 778, 780, 719 P.2d 531 (1986)14, 15, 22
Holiday Resort Cmty. Ass'n v. Echo Lake Assocs., LLC, 134 Wn. App. 210, 226, 135 P.3d 499 (2006)15
Indoor Billboard/Wash., Inc. v. Integra Telecom of Wash., 162 Wn. 2d 59, 170 P.3d 10 (2007)20, 22
Maple v. Costco Wholesale Corp., 649 F. App'x 570, 572 (9th Cir. 2016)24
McRae v. Bolstad, 32 Wn. App. 173, 646 P.2d 771 (1982)16
Morris v. Int'l Yogurt Co., 107 Wn.2d 314, 329, 729 P.2d 33, 41 (1986)24

164 Wn. App. 426, 431, 262 P.3d 837 (2011)14
Saunders v. Lloyd's of London, 113 Wn.2d 330, 344, 779 P.2d 249 (1989)15
Steele v. Extendicare Health Services, Inc., 607 F. Supp. 2d 1226, 1232-34 (W.D. Wash. 2009)
Statutes
Auto Dealer's Practices Act (ADPA)1, 11, 25, 26
Consumer Protection Act (CPA)
Washington Product Liability Act (WPLA)12, 19
Rules
CR 56(c)14
CR 56(e)23
Other Authorities
California Air Resource Board (CARB)9
Center for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC)7, 9
Environmental Protection Agency (EPA)7, 9, 10
Recreational Vehicle Industry Association (RVIA)9
WPI 15.0122

I. <u>INTRODUCTION</u>

Appellants Darrell and Teresa Axon ask this Court to review whether the Court of Appeals erred "by relying on Keystone's 'buyer beware' defense." Appellants' argument is a pure strawman fallacy, as Respondent Keystone RV Company ("Keystone") has never raised a "buyer beware" defense at any point in this litigation. Moreover, neither the trial court nor the Court of Appeals applied (or even discussed) "buyer beware" in dismissing Appellants' claims against Keystone.

Rather, Keystone and the lower courts properly applied the elements of Washington's Consumer Protection Act ("CPA") and found that Appellants could not establish either: (1) that Keystone engaged in unfair or deceptive conduct; or (2) that Keystone caused Appellants' alleged injuries. Appellants here fail to establish that the lower courts erred in reaching these conclusions. Accordingly, Keystone asks this Court to deny review of Appellants' Petition.

II. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

The Court of Appeals evaluated Appellants' claim that Keystone engaged in unfair and deceptive acts in violation of Washington's CPA and Auto Dealer's Practices Act ("ADPA"). Appellants claim they were deceived by Keystone into purchasing a RV to live in full time because Keystone did not

disclose the risk of mold growth following prolonged occupancy in a recreational vehicle.

Appellants first contend that Keystone published a brochure which deceptively advertised its Fuzion RV—the brand purchased by Appellants—as intended for residential living. The Court of Appeals rejected this argument, stating:

Inherent in the phrase "recreational vehicle" is the concept that an RV is for recreational living, not residential living. The Fuzion's recreational character is even more blatant: it is specifically described as a "toy hauler" on the cover of and throughout the brochure. The imagery of the brochure shows people using the Fuzion to camp on a beach with their "toys" – a boat, a small off-road vehicle, and a dirt bike. The imagery in the brochure is focused on the outdoors: it shows people sitting around a campfire.

The Court of Appeals thus concluded that Keystone's brochure was not deceptive. The Court also found that the Fuzion RV brochure could not have caused Appellants' alleged injury—purchasing a RV they no longer want—because there was no evidence in the record that Appellants even saw the brochure before purchasing their RV.

Appellants also contend that Keystone's Owner's Manual was deceptive because it omitted material facts about prolonged occupancy in the RV or otherwise minimized the risks of living

in a RV full time. The Court of Appeals also rejected this argument, concluding:

The owner's manual discusses the ease with which mold can develop in an RV and the risks posed by mold and formaldehyde. It encourages RV owners to properly vent their RV and use dehumidifiers. It further encourages RV owners to consult with their doctor and directs them to specialized resources. It does not minimize or try to hide the possible negative consequences of living in an RV. We conclude that the owner's manual is not deceptive because it does not mislead or misrepresent the danger of mold or formaldehyde.

The Court of Appeals also determined that Appellants could not establish that the alleged non-disclosures in Keystone's Owner's Manual caused their alleged injuries. The Court of Appeals thus affirmed the trial court's summary judgment dismissal of Appellants' claims against Keystone RV.

III. <u>ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW</u>

Whether the Court of Appeals erred in affirming the trial court's summary judgment dismissal of Appellants' claims.

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. Appellants' Claim Is for Economic, Not Personal, Injury.

Darrell and Teresa Axon purchased a used Keystone Fuzion RV in 2018 with the intention of using it as a full-time residence. The first Keystone learned of the sale to the Axons

was when it was served with the Complaint in this litigation.¹ The Axons now contend that they would not have purchased the RV had they known of the potential health hazards associated with occupying a recreational vehicle for prolonged periods.

Despite making allegations of physical injury, Appellants made clear in their Complaint that they "do not seek damages for personal injuries, and "seek only economic damages related to the Defendants' deceptive conduct." In other words, this is not a product liability action and involves only Appellants' claims that Keystone violated the CPA.

B. <u>Keystone Cautioned Consumers About Prolonged</u> Occupancy and Provided Information Regarding Maintaining Good Indoor Air Quality.

Contrary to Appellants' allegations, at the time the Axons were shopping for and purchasing their Keystone RV, Keystone disclosed and made publicly available significant amounts of information about the potential issues that may arise if a consumer uses a RV as a full-time residence—something consumers can do, but requires special attention be paid to maintenance and ventilation.³ Indeed, Appellants' central allegation of deceptive conduct in this litigation is based on a

¹ CP 68

² CP 15.

³ CP 134-137.

false premise that a consumer *cannot* safely occupy a Keystone RV for a prolonged period and that Keystone failed to disclose this limitation on the use of its RVs.⁴ This is not true. Although Keystone informed consumers that its RVs are designed *primarily* for "recreational use and short-term occupancy," nowhere did Keystone state in any of its literature that RV owners *cannot* occupy their RVs for prolonged periods of time. Keystone RV owners *can* and do occupy their RVs for prolonged periods to camp and travel around the country. For those consumers who decide to use their RVs in such a way, Keystone included in its Owner's Manual detailed information related to the importance of maintaining good indoor air quality, increasing ventilation, reducing condensation, and preventing/reducing indoor air pollutants such as mold.⁶

As was set forth in detail in Keystone's publicly disseminated Owner's Manual, any brand of recreational vehicle is susceptible to condensation because of their small size and enclosed space.⁷ This is especially true when consumers use their

⁴ For example, Appellants refer to the "significant limitations on the use of an RV" and the "serious health hazards resulting from the use of its products." CP 9.

⁵ CP 134 (emphasis added).

⁶ CP 134-137.

⁷ CP 134.

RVs for extended periods that go beyond recreational use.⁸ These are not "manufacturing defects" as Appellants contend, but simply the realities of living in a small, enclosed space. Based on the "relatively small" size of a recreational vehicle and the possibility of condensation developing, Keystone explicitly cautioned consumers that prolonged occupancy can lead to premature component failure and create conditions that could lead to poor indoor air quality if not managed properly.⁹

For example, Chapter 3 of Keystone's Owner's Manual is an entire chapter related to prolonged occupancy and the importance of maintaining good indoor air quality¹⁰—the very information Appellants falsely claim Keystone failed to disclose. At the outset of Chapter 3, Keystone included a yellow Caution safety box:

Chapter 3: Effects of Prolonged Occupancy and Indoor Air Quality

Effects of Prolonged Occupancy

ACAUTION

Your recreational vehicle was designed primarily for recreational use and short-term occupancy. Prolonged Occupancy can lead to premature component wear/failure and create conditions, which if not managed properly, may be hazardous to your health and/or cause significant damage to your recreational vehicle. These types of "Damage" are NOT covered under the Limited Warranty.

⁹ *Id*.

⁸ *Id*.

¹⁰ CP 134-137.

Immediately following the yellow Caution box, Keystone further explains:

Unlike a home which can be thousands of square feet in size, your RV is only a few hundred square feet. The relatively small volume and tight compact construction of modern recreational vehicles means that the normal living activities of even a few occupants (or animals) will lead to rapid moisture saturation of the air contained in the RV...Unless the water vapor is carried outside by ventilation or condensed by a dehumidifier, it will condense on the inside of the RV.¹¹

Keystone then dedicated the next two pages of the Owner's Manual to providing the public with tips from the Center for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC) and the Environmental Protection Agency (EPA) for improving indoor air quality, like opening windows, cleaning often, and running an air conditioner or dehumidifier. Keystone also provided tips for avoiding condensation and limiting mold growth. This information was provided to consumers to help them safely and successfully occupy their RVs not, as Appellants contend, to "disclaim liability."

To the extent Appellants claim Keystone did not disclose information related to the potential harmful effects of mold,

¹¹ CP 134.

¹² CP 135.

¹³ CP 136.

Chapter 3 included a subsection titled "Where There is Moisture, There May Be Mold," further informing consumers that mold is a common source of indoor air pollution that could pose a risk to certain individuals, including people with asthma, allergies, chronic lung diseases, and the elderly. 15

Notably, the Axons did not have to wait to purchase a Keystone RV to gain access to the Owner's Manual as Keystone has made its Owner's Manuals dating as far back as 2002 available to consumers on its public website.¹⁶

C. <u>Keystone Informed Consumers About the Use of Formaldehyde In Building Materials.</u>

Appellants allege that Keystone also fails to disclose to its consumers the use of formaldehyde in its RVs.¹⁷ This too is false. At the time the Axons were shopping for and purchasing their Keystone RV, Chapter 3 of Keystone's Owner's Manual included a section entitled "Formaldehyde & Recreational Vehicles." The section explained that "Formaldehyde is also an industrial chemical used in the manufacture of some of the components used in the construction of recreational vehicles" and that "[s]ome people are very sensitive to formaldehyde while

¹⁴ CP 136.

¹⁵ CP 134.

¹⁶ See www.keystonerv.com/owners-manuals.

¹⁷ CP 104.

others may not have any reaction to the same levels of formaldehyde." ¹⁸ Keystone also provided recommendations from the CDC and EPA on improving air quality. ¹⁹

Moreover, Keystone included a subsection in the Formaldehyde & Recreational Vehicles section of its Owner's Manual titled "Web Sites of Interest" with links to websites maintained by the EPA, the CDC, the former Formaldehyde Council, and the Recreational Vehicle Industry Association ("RVIA").²⁰ The Owner's Manual also included a "California Air Resource Board (CARB) Notice" which explained that Keystone was mandated to use materials that comply with California formaldehyde emission standards.²¹

D. <u>Appellants Fail to Present Evidence of Deceptive Conduct and Causation.</u>

Appellants' Response to Keystone's Motion for Summary Judgment was evasive and non-specific. Appellants submitted only the following documents as "evidence" 22:

1. A Keystone Fuzion Brochure. This brochure depicts individuals using a recreational vehicle for its traditional and

¹⁸ CP 137.

¹⁹ *Id*.

 $^{^{20}}$ *Id*.

²¹ *Id*.

²² CP 113-114.

intended use: sitting around a campfire by a river while vacationing.²³ Absent from the Response is any declaration or sworn testimony from the Axons even suggesting that they saw this brochure prior to purchasing their RV.²⁴

- 2. Chapter 3 of the Keystone Owner's Manual. This Chapter, entitled "Effects of Prolonged Occupancy and Indoor Air Quality," cautioned consumers against prolonged occupancy in RVs absent dedicated attention to ventilation and reducing condensation.²⁵ Appellants have explicitly admitted to never having read any portion of the Owner's Manual, let alone Chapter 3 on prolonged occupancy.²⁶
- 3. The Amended Complaint in Cole, et al. v. Keystone RV, Inc. Appellants cited to specific paragraphs in the Cole Amended Complaint—a separate matter brought by Appellants' counsel—as "evidence" in support of their allegations in the case at bar.²⁷
 - 4. The Axons' Complaint.
- 5. Keystone's Motion to Dismiss in Cole. Keystone's Motion to Dismiss in Cole did not involve the merits of the Cole plaintiffs' CPA claim but instead argued that the claim was not

²³ CP 117-132.

²⁴ CP 103-303.

²⁵ CP 134-137.

²⁶ CP 105.

²⁷ CP 139-172.

sufficiently pled. Accordingly, none of the arguments raised in Keystone's Motion to Dismiss are relevant to the litigation at bar.²⁸

- 6. The Cole Plaintiffs' Response to Keystone's Motion to Dismiss in Cole.²⁹ Again, Keystone's Motion to Dismiss did not involve the merits of the Cole plaintiffs' CPA or ADPA claims.
- 7. The Court's Order Granting in Part and Denying in Part Keystone's Motion to Dismiss in Cole. Judge Leighton dismissed the Cole plaintiffs' ADPA claim as brought in violation of the one-year statute of limitations. Judge Leighton did not evaluate the merits of the Cole plaintiffs' CPA claim.³⁰
- 8. The Declaration of the Cole Plaintiffs' Expert Joellen Gill. Joellen Gill is a Human Factors expert.³¹ The Gill declaration was submitted in support of the Cole plaintiffs' Motion to Certify Class, which was denied.³² Notably, in the context of the subsequent litigation involving the individual Cole plaintiffs, Appellants' counsel withdrew Ms. Gill as an expert witness. Notwithstanding, Appellants point to Ms. Gill's

²⁸ CP 199-223.

²⁹ CP 225-251.

³⁰ CP 252-257.

³¹ CP 259.

³² Cole, et al. v. Keystone RV Company, No. C18-5182RBL, 2020 WL 3969993 (W.D. Wash. July 14, 2020).

declaration for the proposition that the "warning or caution provided by Keystone to consumers [in its Owner's Manual] is wholly inadequate."³³ As explained in more detail below, whether Keystone's "warning or caution" was sufficient or effective is not at issue here where Appellants have not brought a claim for failure to warn pursuant to the Washington Product Liability Act ("WPLA"). Instead, under the CPA, Appellants must establish that Keystone withheld material information known only to it and not otherwise available to consumers. Ms. Gill's testimony is not relevant to this inquiry.

- 9. Declaration of the Cole Plaintiffs' Expert David Buscher, M.D. Appellants cite to Dr. Buscher's declaration³⁴ for the proposition that excessive exposure to mold and formaldehyde can be harmful—a fact Keystone does not dispute and itself disclosed in its Owner's Manual.
- 10. Declaration of the Cole Plaintiffs' Expert John Walker. Mr. Walker is a vehicle appraiser retained by the plaintiffs in Cole.³⁵ In his Order denying the Cole plaintiffs' Motion to Certify Class, Judge Leighton excluded Mr. Walker's

³³ CP 109.

³⁴ CP 289-293.

³⁵ CP 295-303.

testimony, concluding: "Walker is not qualified, and his opinions are neither reliable nor relevant." ³⁶

Notably absent from Appellants' Response was any declaration or testimony from the Axons themselves which established what, if any, Keystone materials they had read or reviewed prior to purchasing their RV.

E. <u>The Axon and Cole Matters Are Dismissed on Summary Judgment.</u>

On April 1, 2020, the trial court granted Keystone's Motion for Summary Judgment and dismissed Appellants' claims against Keystone.³⁷ Appellants moved for reconsideration, which was denied.³⁸

On July 22, 2021, Judge Zilly granted Keystone's Motion for Summary Judgment in the *Cole* matter, dismissing the plaintiffs' claims in their entirety.³⁹ The *Cole* plaintiffs moved for reconsideration, which Judge Zilly denied.⁴⁰

³⁸ CP 383-384 (Order on Reconsideration).

³⁶ Cole, et al. v. Keystone RV Company, No. C18-5182RBL, 2020 WL 3969993 at *9 (W.D. Wash. July 14, 2020).

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